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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is a 

determination of a transaction’s domesticity sufficient for extraterritorial 

application when holding otherwise would contradict the statutory 

language, resurrect the Conduct and Effects Test expressly rejected by 

the Supreme Court, and expand a narrow holding not intended to apply 

to all situations?  

2. Under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), is a general counsel who inserts knowingly 

false regulatory assurances and legal disclosures into investor materials 

primarily liable, even though that executive is not the maker of those 

statements under Rule 10b-5(b)? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

In 2009, Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) and his venture partner Benny 

Factor (“Factor”) founded an Italian-based company named Alcollezione (the 

“Company”) selling wines and spirits. R. at 1–2. Ava Cato (“Cato” or 

“Respondent”), an Italian attorney, was hired as the Company’s General 

Counsel. R. at 2. The Company was structured as an Italian-styled corporation 

with Marconi as Chief Executive Officer, and Factor as Chief Financial Officer. 

R. at 2–3. In preparation for a 2011 initial public offering (“IPO”), the Company 

created an “Investor Relations” section on its website, where it posted financial 

statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor materials in both Italian 

and English. R. at 3. The Company closed an IPO of 20,000,000 common 

stock, which were listed on the Italian Stock Exchange. R. at 3.  

After its success on the IPO, the Company expanded its market into the 

United States. R. at 3. In 2016, Doris Schutt (“Schutt”) informed Marconi that 

she was interested in the Company and was considering setting up an 

unsponsored American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) through her position at 

Hansen Bank and Trust (“Hansen Bank”), a New York depository institution. R. 

at 4. Marconi did not object and Schutt registered the Company for 

unsponsored ADRs by filing the Form F-6 required by the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1933. R. at 4. The ADRs were traded over-the-counter (“OTC”) and 

purchased via phone by hedge fund managers in New York and Connecticut 

with the assistance of Hansen Bank. R. at 4.  

In anticipation of the 2017 Annual Shareholder’s Meeting (the “Annual 

Meeting”), where Marconi planned to unveil a new beverage, Respondent met 
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with Marconi privately to let him know that she would research whether the 

beverage would comply with the strict Italian regulations. R. at 5. Marconi 

proceeded with his plans to announce the newest line of Italian-spiked mineral 

water, Frizzantissmo, to his investors at the Annual meeting. R. at 5.  

A week out from the Annual Meeting, Marconi met with Respondent 

again to inform her that the institutional investors would require assurances 

regarding the product’s regulatory compliance. R. at 5. Although Respondent 

knew the product was not compliant with Italian regulations, she disregarded 

her duty of care and prepared false assurances that the product was compliant 

and would be ready for market in the second quarter of 2018. R. at 6. 

Respondent condensed these assurances into a disclosure that she inserted 

into the slide deck of Marconi’s presentation and footnoted in Factor’s financial 

statements. R. at 6. At the Annual Meeting, Marconi delivered his slide deck 

and announced the launch of the new product, passing along copies of the 

financial statements. R. at 6. The slide deck and financial statements were 

then posted to the Investor Relations section of the Company’s webpage. R. at 

6. Following the announcement of the new product, the stock and ADR prices 

rose an additional 14% through early Winter 2018. R. at 6. The hedge fund 

investors were the main drivers of the ADR price. R. at 6. 

 On March 14, 2018, the Company’s management team received notice 

that all production had to be halted because of noncompliance with quality 

control standards. R. at 6. Within hours, the stock price tumbled almost 29%, 

and the ADR price dropped nearly 27%. R. at 6. Marconi, Factor, and 

Respondent all stepped down from their roles as senior executives. R. at 6. No 
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investigation regarding the matter has been commenced by Italian or European 

authorities. R. at 7. 

On September 6, 2018, the hedge fund managers (“Petitioners”) who 

purchased the Company’s ADRs in the United States between the Annual 

Meeting and March 14, 2018, commenced a private action against the 

Company’s former executives in the United States District Court for the District 

of Fordham. R. at 7. Petitioners’ complaint alleged they incurred severe losses 

with their purchase of the Company’s ADRs in reliance on allegedly false and 

misleading statements delivered at the Annual Meeting and published on the 

Investor Relations section of the Company’s webpage. R. at 7. Specifically, 

Petitioners complaint alleged that Respondent and Factor committed securities 

fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (the 

“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5. R. at 7.  

In November 2018, the District Court denied Respondent’s 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss, but granted Factor’s motion to dismiss because scienter was 

not adequately pled. R. at 8. First, the District Court correctly found that 

Respondent was involved in a domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) 

to apply extraterritorially in this case. R. at 8. Second, the District Court also 

correctly found that Respondent served as a disseminator of Marconi’s 

allegedly false or misleading statements, effectively pleading the requirements 

set forth in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”) and 

subjecting her to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). R. at 8. 

Respondent appealed to the Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit. R. at 

8. The Fourteenth Circuit reversed the lower court’s decision and erroneously 
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granted Respondent’s motion to dismiss. R. at 23. Specifically, the circuit court 

dismissed the claim because the transaction at issue was so predominantly 

foreign that an application of the Exchange Act would be impermissibly 

extraterritorial and that Respondent cannot be primarily liable under Rule 10b-

5(a) and (c) because the sections are not mutually exclusive. R. at 23. This 

Court granted Certiorari to review the Fourteenth Circuit’s reversal. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

 An appellate court will review a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) de novo “accepting as true all factual allegations in the 

light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Glick v. W. Power Sports, Inc., 944 

F.3d 714, 717 (8th Cir. 2019). To survive a motion to dismiss, “a complaint 

must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim for 

relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) 

(quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 
 

 The Fourteenth Circuit improperly granted Respondent’s motion to 

dismiss because Respondent was involved in a domestic transaction sufficient 

for Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to apply extraterritorially and because she is 

primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) for inserting false statements into 

investor materials that are directly attributable to her. A court’s determination 

that a transaction is domestic is necessary and sufficient for the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b). The Transactional Test, set forth by the Supreme 

Court in Morrison v. National Australia Bank Ltd., states that Section 10(b) 

applies to (1) “transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges,” and (2) 
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“domestic transactions in other securities.” This test is directly supported by 

Section 10(b)’s statutory language, while any extension of the inquiry is not. 

Further, the Second Circuit’s “predominantly foreign” exception to the test 

wrongly focuses on factors other than where the transaction took place. This 

amorphous exception revitalizes the Conduct and Effects Test by creating an 

abstract standard that lacks predictability for plaintiffs in the securities realm. 

Lastly, the Second Circuit’s narrow holding in Parkcentral Global Hub Ltd. v. 

Porsche Auto. Holdings SE has been inconsistently applied and is easily 

distinguishable from the case at bar. 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5’s plain language and purpose supports this 

Court’s conclusion in Lorenzo v. SEC that Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) are broad 

enough to encompass conduct involving false statements without undermining 

subsection (b). This Court’s decision in Lorenzo was made applicable to private 

actions when it used an adaptation of the stricter bright-line test to determine 

a party’s primary liability under Rule 10b-5. The bright-line test confirms that 

false or misleading statements attributable to the alleged violator are sufficient 

to find primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), even if they are not a 

maker under subsection (b).  

The transactions that took place in this case were clearly domestic and 

sufficient for Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to apply extraterritorially. 

Respondent’s false legal assurances and disclosures were directly attributable 

to her as General Counsel of the Company, making her primarily liable under 

Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). An analysis of the facts in the light most favorable to the 

nonmovant demonstrates that Petitioner has plead sufficient facts in 
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accordance with the heightened pleading standard requirements to state a 

claim under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. In turn, the Fourteenth Circuit’s 

decision must be reversed.  

ARGUMENT 
 

 The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly granted Respondent’s motion to 

dismiss because (1) a determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient 

for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b), and (2) a General Counsel 

violates Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) when inserting false legal assurances and 

disclosures into a company’s investor materials, even if that individual is not 

the maker of the statement. The Exchange Act was enacted “to protect 

investors against manipulation of stock prices through regulation of 

transactions upon securities exchanges and in over-the-counter markets.” 

Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 195 (1976). To best effectuate this 

purpose, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) promulgated Rule 

10b-5 under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act prohibiting the use of specified 

means to engage in manipulative or deceptive acts in connection with the 

purchase or sale of securities. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Since 

a regulation cannot extend beyond the conduct encompassed by its 

corresponding statute, it is important to determine the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b) before the Court may determine whether 

Respondent is primarily liable under Rule 10b-5. See Morrison v. National 

Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 261–62 (2010) (“[I]f [Section] 10(b) is not 

extraterritorial, neither is Rule 10b-5.”). 
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Ultimately, this Court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s decision 

for two reasons. First, a determination of a transaction’s domesticity is 

sufficient for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). Second, a General 

Counsel violates Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) when inserting false legal assurances 

and disclosures into a company’s investor materials.  

I. A DETERMINATION THAT A TRANSACTION IS DOMESTIC IS 
SUFFICIENT FOR THE EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF 
SECTION 10(b).  

 
 The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that a finding of a transaction’s 

domesticity is necessary, but not sufficient, for the extraterritorial application 

of Section 10(b). Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act prohibits manipulative or 

deceptive conduct “in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.” 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b). Notably, Section 10(b)’s text makes no reference to whether the 

provision applies extraterritorially. See id.; Kaitlin A. Bruno, The Halfway Point 

Between Barbary Coast and Shangri-La: Extraterritoriality and the Viability of 

the Economic Reality Method Post – Parkcentral Global Hub Ltd. v. Porsche 

Automobile Holdings SE, 65 AM. U. L. REV. 435, 440 (2015). Despite the fact that 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 are heavily litigated in the securities realm, the 

United States Supreme Court did not address the extraterritoriality of these 

provisions until 2010 when it decided Morrison v. National Australia Bank Ltd. 

See 561 U.S. at 261. In Morrison, the Supreme Court looked at the 

“longstanding principle of American law that legislation of Congress, unless a 

contrary intent appears, is meant to apply only within the territorial 

jurisdiction of the United States.” Id. at 255. Because Section 10(b) “gives no 

clear indication of extraterritorial application, it has none.” Id. Therefore, the 
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Supreme Court held there is a presumption against extraterritoriality in all 

Section 10(b) cases. Id. at 261. Plaintiffs, however, can overcome this 

presumption and state a Section 10(b) claim if the transaction at issue involves 

the purchase or sale of (1) “securities listed on domestic exchanges,” or (2) 

“domestic transactions in other securities” (hereinafter, the “Transactional 

Test”). Id. at 267.  

 The Supreme Court did not define what constitutes a “domestic 

transaction” in Morrison. See id. The Second Circuit and other courts, however, 

have adopted the view that a transaction is domestic if “irrevocable liability was 

incurred or title was transferred within the United States.” Absolute Activist 

Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 68 (2d Cir. 2012); see also SEC 

v. World Capital Mkt., Inc., 864 F.3d 996, 1008 (9th Cir. 2017); United States v. 

Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 2015). Essentially, a transaction is 

domestic if it took place within the United States. See Absolute Activist Value, 

677 F.3d at 68. In this case, the ADRs at issue were purchased by phone in 

New York and Connecticut, and are unquestionably domestic transactions. R. 

at 4. 

While the definition of domesticity has been widely adopted by circuit 

courts, a circuit split remains between the Second and Ninth Circuit about 

whether a determination of a transaction’s domesticity is sufficient for 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). See Parkcentral Glob. Hub Ltd. v. 

Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 214 (2d Cir. 2014) (per curiam); 

Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th Cir. 2018). The Second Circuit 

improperly concluded that a transaction’s domesticity is necessary, but not 
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sufficient. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 214. In contrast, the Ninth Circuit 

correctly held that a transaction’s domesticity is necessary and sufficient based 

on the statutory language of Section 10(b) and the Supreme Court’s decision in 

Morrison. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950.  

 This Court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that a 

domestic transaction is not sufficient for extraterritorial application of Section 

10(b) for multiple reasons. First, Section 10(b)’s emphasis on the location of the 

transaction supports the conclusion that a transaction’s domesticity is 

sufficient. Second, a finding that domesticity is necessary but not sufficient is 

contrary to the Supreme Court’s holding in Morrison because it resurrects the 

Conduct and Effects Test. Third, the Second Circuit’s decision in Parkcentral 

Glob. Hub. Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, is a narrow holding inconsistently 

applied throughout the Second Circuit that is distinguishable from the case at 

bar. 

A. The Statutory Language Of Section 10(b) Supports The Conclusion 
That A Transaction’s Domesticity Is Sufficient Because Of Its 
Inherent Focus On The Location Of The Transaction.  

 
Section 10(b)’s text reinforces that a transaction’s domesticity is 

sufficient for the provision’s extraterritorial application by emphasizing the 

location of the securities transaction and not where the deceptive conduct 

occurred. The Transactional Test1 set forth in Morrison is expressly taken from 

the specific language of Section 10(b), which states that it is unlawful 

[t]o use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any 
security registered on a national securities exchange or any security 
not so registered, or any securities-based swap agreement any 

 
1 Section 10(b) applies only to (1) “transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges,” and 
(2) “domestic transactions in other securities” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 267. 
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manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of 
such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as 
necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection 
of investors.  
 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (emphasis added). Based on this statutory language, the 

Morrison Court stated that “the focus of the Exchange Act is not upon the place 

where the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales of securities in 

the United States.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. This is because “Section 10(b) 

does not punish deceptive conduct, but only deceptive conduct ‘in connection 

with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities 

exchange or any security not so registered.’” Id. (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)). 

Therefore, the Morrison Court purely looked at the location of the transaction in 

crafting its Transactional Test. Id. at 267. 

 The Second Circuit in Parkcentral disregarded this Court’s reasoning for 

the Transactional Test by going beyond the location of the transaction and 

looking at additional conduct. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. The Second 

Circuit, in determining that Section 10(b) should not apply, looked at the fact 

that the alleged statements at issue occurred primarily in Germany regarding 

stock in a German company traded throughout Europe. Id. All of these facts 

are those that the Supreme Court in Morrison expressly forbade courts to look 

at when determining the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). See 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 268; Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950.  

While these facts may have a bearing on whether the fraud was “in 

connection with” the ADR purchases, it has no bearing on the extraterritoriality 

question. See Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 949 (“For the Exchange Act to apply, there 
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must be a domestic transaction; that [the defendant] may ultimately be found 

not liable for causing the loss in value to the ADRs does not mean that the Act 

is inapplicable to the transactions.”). Thus, Parkcentral improperly confuses the 

standards of whether Section 10(b) applies and whether there is a violation of 

the statute. Id. For this reason, the inquiry should end at a determination that 

a transaction is dependent for extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) and 

bring in other relevant facts when looking at a potential violation of the 

Exchange Act. See id.  

Additionally, the Second Circuit did not provide persuasive justification 

for extending the straightforward Transactional Test. The court’s primary 

reason for adding a requirement out of thin air is that the Supreme Court in 

Morrison “did not say that such a transaction was sufficient to make the 

statute applicable.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. This goes against the more 

likely interpretation that when the Supreme Court crafted the Transactional 

Test, it intended for that to be the entire test. See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 769–70 

(holding that the Transactional Test would appease foreign nations’ request for 

a clear test).  

B. A Finding That A Transaction’s Domesticity Is Not Sufficient For 
Extraterritorial Application Of Section 10(b) Directly Contradicts 
The Morrison Court By Resurrecting The Conduct And Effects Test. 

 
A determination of a transaction’s domesticity must be the end of the 

extraterritorial application inquiry because a contrary holding would revitalize 

the Conduct and Effects Test expressly rejected by this Court in Morrison. 

Before the Supreme Court decided Morrison in 2010, the Second Circuit had 

“established that application of [Section] 10(b) could be premised upon either 
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some effect on American securities markets or investors” or “significant 

conduct in the United States.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257; see also Leasco Data 

Processing Equip. Corp. v. Maxwell, 468 F.2d 1326, 1341 (2d Cir. 1972); 

Schoenbaum v. Firstbrook, 405 F.2d 200, 206 (2d Cir. 1968). This was 

formalized into an Effects Test where “the wrongful conduct had a substantial 

effect in the United States or upon United States citizens,” and a Conduct Test 

where “the wrongful conduct occurred in the United States.” Morrison, 561 U.S. 

at 257 (quoting SEC v. Burger, 322 F.3d 187, 192–93 (2d Cir. 2003)). The 

Second Circuit, however, “never put forward a textual or even extratextual 

basis for these tests.” Id. at 258.  

In addition to the lack of textual support, the Supreme Court rejected the 

Conduct and Effects test based on its unpredictable and inconsistent 

application. See id. Specifically, the Supreme Court said “[t]here is no more 

damning indictment of the ‘conduct’ and ‘effects’ tests than the Second 

Circuit’s own declaration that ‘the presence or absence of any single factor 

which was considered significant in other cases . . . is not necessarily 

dispositive in future cases.’” Id. at 259 (quoting IIT, an Intern. Inv. Trust v. 

Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 909, 918 (1980)). Other circuit courts adopted similar tests, 

but “described their decisions regarding extraterritorial application of [Section] 

10(b) as essentially resolving matters of policy.” Id; see, e.g., SEC v. Kasser, 548 

F.2d 109, 116 (3d Cir. 1977) (stating that “this case in a large measure calls for 

a policy decision); Continental Grain (Australia) Pty. Ltd. v. Pacific Oilseeds, Inc., 

592 F.2d 409, 421–22 (8th Cir. 1979) (admitting that its holding was “largely a 

policy decision.”). It was the “results of judicial-speculation-made-law” and “the 
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unpredictable and inconsistent application of [Section] 10(b)” that led the 

Supreme Court to expressly reject the Conduct and Effects Test in favor of the 

Transactional Test. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 260–61.  

Despite this Court’s express rejection of the Conduct and Effects Test, 

the Second Circuit in Parkcentral has attempted to create yet another unclear, 

judge-made test with no statutory support. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. 

The Second Circuit, after finding that the transaction was domestic, ultimately 

held that the claims in Parkcentral were “so predominantly foreign as to be 

impermissibly extraterritorial.” Id. The Second Circuit even admitted that its 

conclusion “cannot, of course, be perfunctorily applied to other cases based on 

the perceived similarity of a few facts” and that it did “not purport to proffer a 

test that will reliably determine when a particular invocation of [Section] 10(b) 

will be deemed appropriately domestic or impermissibly extraterritorial.” Id. at 

217. Instead, the Second Circuit repeated its past mistakes that were rejected 

by this Court by proffering a test that “is not necessarily dispositive in future 

cases.” See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 259; Parkcentral 763 F.3d at 217. For these 

reasons, the “predominately foreign” exception to the Transactional Test 

directly contradicts this Court’s precedent, and therefore, a finding of a 

transaction’s domesticity is sufficient.  

C.  The Second Circuit’s Holding In Parkcentral Was Limited To Its 
Facts, Is Inconsistently Applied In The Second Circuit, And Is 
Distinguishable From The Present Case. 

 
 In Parkcentral, the Second Circuit went out of its way to narrow its 

holding to the unique set of facts and since then has inconsistently found the 

domesticity of a transaction to be insufficient for the extraterritorial application 
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of Section 10(b). Specifically, the Second Circuit stated that its “ultimate 

conclusion that [the] suit seeks impermissibly to extend [Section] 10(b) 

extraterritorially depends in some part on the particular character of the 

unusual security at issue.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 202. The unusual security 

at issue in Parkcentral was a securities-based swap agreement. Id. at 205. The 

Second Circuit further emphasized that it was “express[ing] no view whether [it] 

would have reached the same result if the suit were based on different 

transactions.” Id. at 202. 

 Since its decision in Parkcentral, the Court of Appeals for the Second 

Circuit has not applied Parkcentral to dismiss a claim for extraterritoriality 

reasons. See Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 2018); Myun-Uk Choi 

v. Tower Research Capital LLC, 890 F.3d 60, 67; In re Petrobras Sec., 862 F.3d 

250, 262 (2d Cir. 2017). Instead, the Second Circuit has either distinguished 

Parkcentral by further narrowing its application or has disregarded the case’s 

reasoning entirely. See Guinta, 893 F.3d at 82; Myun-Uk Choi, 890 F.3d at 67; 

In re Petrobras Sec., 862 F.3d at 262. For example, in Giunat v. Dingman, the 

Second Circuit distinguished Parkcentral on the grounds that Parkcentral 

addressed “securities-based swap agreements” where “the foreign company 

defendant was not a party to the agreements.” 893 F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 2018). 

Additionally, in Myun-Uk Choi v. Tower Research Capital LLC, the Second 

Circuit contradicted itself by stating that “Morrison clearly provided that the 

‘domestic transaction’ prong is an independent and sufficient basis for 

application of the Securities Exchange Act to purportedly foreign conduct.” 890 

F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2018). The court ended its inquiry of extraterritoriality with 
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a determination that the transaction was domestic, and therefore, Section 10(b) 

was applicable. Id. at 68.  

 Even if this Court were to find that Parkcentral was correctly decided, it 

is easily distinguishable from the present case because of the securities device 

at issue, the Company’s knowledge of the securities device, and the 

Respondent’s conduct with the United States. As the Second Circuit indicated 

in Parkcentral, its holding was tied to the unusual security device at issue—the 

securities-based swap agreement. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 202. Whereas 

the security device in the present case is an unsponsored ADR. R. at 4. 

Dissimilarly from an ADR, securities-based swap agreement “do not constitute 

investments in the company on whose securities they are based nor do they 

confer any ownership interest in those reference securities.” See Toshiba, 896 

F.3d at 950. Further, securities-based swap agreements’ “value is wholly 

unconstrained by the amount of reference security available and is not directly 

pegged to the value of the reference security.” Id. 

Additionally, in Parkcentral there was no allegation that the foreign 

company was involved with or knew of the securities-based swap agreements. 

See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 202. In the present case, however, Schutt asked 

Marconi for permission before purchasing the unsponsored ADRs and Marconi 

did not protest. R. at 4. Moreover, a company’s compliance with SEC 

requirements has been looked at to show that the company had knowledge of 

the security at issue. See e.g., In re: Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg., Sales 

Practices, & Prod. Liab. Litig., No. CV 15-2672 CRB, 2017 WL 66281, at *5 (N.D. 

Cal. Jan. 4., 2017) (holding that the defendant company’s compliance with the 
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SEC requirement of providing public disclosures in English connected its 

conduct to the United States). In the present case, the Company posted 

investor materials in English on their webpage in accordance with SEC 

requirements. R. at 3, 29. Here, unlike in Parkcentral, there was also sufficient 

conduct in the United States such as Respondent meeting with Schutt and 

multiple hedge fund managers in New York. R. at 3. Therefore, even if this 

Court finds that Parkcentral was correctly decided and that the “predominantly 

foreign” exception does apply, this case is not so predominantly foreign that it 

is impermissibly extraterritorial.  

 The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that a determination that a 

transaction is domestic is necessary, but not sufficient, for the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b) for three main reasons. First, the statutory 

language’s focus on the transaction’s location supports that a transaction’s 

domesticity is sufficient. Second, the Parkcentral decision improperly resurrects 

the Conduct and Effects Test expressly rejected by the Supreme Court. Third, 

the Parkcentral decision was a narrow holding that is not the clear law in the 

Second Circuit. For these reasons, this Court should find that Respondent was 

involved in a domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply 

extraterritorially in this case.  

II.  A GENERAL COUNSEL VIOLATES RULE 10b-5(a) AND (c) WHEN 
INSERTING FALSE LEGAL ASSURANCES AND DISCLOSURES INTO A 
COMPANY’S INVESTOR MATERIALS. 

 
The Fourteenth Circuit erred in holding that a general counsel who 

inserts false legal assurances and disclosures into a company’s investor 

materials escapes primary liability in a private Rule 10b-5 action only because 
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they are not considered a maker under subsection (b). Under Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 prohibits deceptive or manipulative conduct and 

false or misleading statements in connection to the buying and selling of 

securities. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a)–(c). Even though Section 10(b) is silent on 

whether there is a private cause of action, this Court has found an implied 

right for private individuals to bring an action under Rule 10b-5. Stoneridge 

Inv. Partners, L.L.C. v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 164 (2007). Private 

plaintiffs may only bring suit against primary violators, but not secondary 

violators. See Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 

511 U.S. 164, 191 (1994). In contrast, the SEC may bring suits against 

primary and secondary violators including aiding and abetting claims. Id.  

Much of the case law on Rule 10b-5’s application following Central Bank 

of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank, N.A. has defined and modified what 

facts are sufficient to assert a primary liability claim. See id.; Janus Capital 

Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 131 S. Ct. 2296, 2303 (2011); Stoneridge, 

552 U.S. 148, 167 (2008). These cases narrowed Rule 10b-5’s general scope 

regarding third parties who satisfy the primary liability requirements and the 

scope of subsection (b) to “makers” of false statements. See Cent. Bank, 511 

U.S. at 191; Janus, 131 S. Ct. at 2303; Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 167. Under 

Rule 10b-5(b), an  individual is a “maker” of false statements when they have 

ultimate authority over those statement’s content and delivery. Janus, 131 S. 

Ct. at 2303. This Court, in Lorenzo v. SEC, further clarified that Rule 10b-5(b)’s 

selective language does not bar subsections (a) and (c) from addressing 

misstatements. 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1098 (2019) (holding that those who 
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disseminate false statements to potential investors with intent to defraud can 

violate Rule 10b-5(a) and (c)). Specifically, this Court held that Rule 10b-5 is 

not mutually exclusive, and that subsections (a) and (c) are sufficiently broad to 

include manipulative or deceptive devices or practices in conjunction with 

misstatements. Id. at 1100. The Fourteenth Circuit improperly ignores this 

Court’s precedent by restricting the Rule further than the language allows 

because of its misconception that Lorenzo blurs the distinction between 

primary and secondary liability. R. at 23.  

This Court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s determination that 

Rule 10b-5’s subsections are mutually exclusive, and that the Supreme Court’s 

analysis in Lorenzo distorts the distinction between primary and secondary 

liability in a private action for multiple reasons. First, Rule 10b-5’s plain 

language and purpose support a finding that its subsections are not mutually 

exclusive. Second, Lorenzo uses the stricter bright-line test seen in private 

actions which says that the review and approval of materials containing false 

statements is actionable under Rule 10b-5 when the false statements are 

attributable to the alleged violator. Therefore, Respondent is primarily liable 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) because her false regulatory assurances and 

disclosures inserted into investor documents are attributable to her as the 

Company’s General Counsel. 

A. Rule 10b-5’s Text And Purpose Indicate That The Provisions Are 
Intended As A Catchall For Various Types Of Securities Fraud. 

 
The Rule’s plain language and purpose support the interpretation that 

Rule 10b-5’s subsections are not mutually exclusive, which effectuates its 
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purpose of capturing various kinds of securities fraud. This Court has 

emphasized that the “statutory text controls the definition of conduct covered 

by the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws.” Central Bank, 511 

U.S. at 166. Thus, “the starting point in every case involving construction of a 

statute is the language itself.” Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 197. Rule 10b-5 provides 

that it is unlawful 

[f]or any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means . . . 
(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; (b) to make 
any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or 
(c) to engage in any act, practice or course of business which 
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 
 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (emphasis added). Rule 10b-5’s subsections are not 

mutually exclusive in light of its flexible language and Congress’s purpose 

when crafting the antifraud statutes. 

i. Rule 10b-5’s language and context connotes 
flexibility rather than exclusivity. 

 
 This Court in Lorenzo was correct in concluding that the language of 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, as ordinarily used, is sufficiently broad to 

include within their scope other acts of fraud that involve material 

misstatements. Rule 10b-5’s text presents no restrictions as to whether the 

conduct described in its subsections can overlap. See 15 U.S.C. §78j(b); 17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a)–(c). First, the flexible and inclusive language in Rule 10b-

5 on its face lends no indication that the provisions are meant to be read as 

mutually exclusive. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a)–(c). In contrast to the 

operative word “make” in Rule 10b-5(b), the operative words in subsections (a) 
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and (c)⎯”employ” and “engage”⎯suggest there is a more liberal standard at 

play. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100. “Employ” in this context is defined as “to 

make use of.” The American Heritage College Dictionary 460 (4th ed. 2004). 

Similarly, “engage in” is defined as to “participate or become involved in.” Id. at 

464. These words suggest that multiple persons of independent nature and 

identity can employ or engage in some conduct, statement, or activity, and do 

not contain the same inherit limitations as the word “make” does. SEC v. 

Pentagon Capital Mgmt. P.L.C., 725 F.3d 279, 287 (2d Cir. 2013) 

(“[C]onstruction of the term ‘make’ in Rule 10b-5(b) has no necessary 

implications for the scope of other antifraud provisions that does not use that 

word.”); United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 786, 774 (1979) (concluding that 

Rule 10b-5’s subsections are “meant to cover additional kinds of illegalities.”). 

Mutual exclusivity among the subsections is untenable given that the language 

of subsections (a) and (c) facially may cover at least some of the same conduct. 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101; see also Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United 

States, 406 U.S. 128, 152–53 (1972). It follows that a manipulative or deceptive 

device or practice involving misstatements can also fall under Rule 10b-5(a) 

and (c) so long as the individual is not considered a maker under subsection 

(b). Henson v. Santander Consumer U.S.A., Inc., 137 S. Ct. 1718, 1723 (2017). 

This conclusion maintains the Rule’s all-inclusive integrity while avoiding 

superfluity by honoring the maker limitations in subsection (b). 

Further, Rule 10b-5 in the context of Section 10(b) contains similarly 

expansive language. Section 10(b) states that “it shall be unlawful for any 

person, directly or indirectly . . . to use or employ, in connection with the 
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purchase or sale of any security. . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 

contrivance. . . .” 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) (emphasis added). Conduct is manipulative 

within the meaning of Section 10(b) when it improperly affects the market of a 

security. Andrew N. Vollmer, EC Revanchism and The Expansion of Primary 

Liability Under Section 17(a) and Rule 10b-5, 10 VA. L. & BUS. REV. 273, 310 

(2016). The word manipulative “connotes intentional or willful conduct 

designed to deceive or defraud investors by controlling or artificially affecting 

the price of securities.” Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 199. The Supreme Court has 

yet to define “deceptive,” but they recognize that misstatements themselves can 

constitute deceptive conduct. Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 156. Deception does not 

require that a misrepresentation or omission has occurred, and visa-versa, 

misrepresentations can themselves be deceptive. Id. This Court has read Rule 

10b-5’s broad language not technically or restrictively, but flexibly to effectuate 

its remedial purpose. Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah, 406 U.S. at 151. The plain 

language is the Rule alone, which does not suggest that a violator’s conduct 

within Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) cannot also involve misstatements that are 

technically made by someone else. 

ii. Congress created the Exchange Act to 
combat the various combinations of fraud.  

 
A finding that Rule 10b-5 is mutually exclusive would negate the 

statute's purpose of capturing the ever-evolving categories of fraud. The 

Exchange Act was designed to “protect investors against fraud and . . . to 

promote ethical standards of honesty and fair dealing.” Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 

195. Interpreting Rule 10b-5 to be mutually exclusive would undermine the 
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Congressional purpose by allowing a loophole for certain securities fraud 

schemes built upon misrepresentations.  

An improper finding that Rule 10b-5’s subsections are mutually 

exclusive would have the unfortunate effect of allowing individuals involved in 

schemes and practices built on misrepresentations to escape liability. Insider 

trading is an example of a securities fraud scheme or practice that is tied to 

Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) and has successfully survived private civil actions. United 

States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 655 (1997) (noting that the deceptive device 

in insider trading is “feigning fidelity to the source of information.”). Similarly, 

auditor liability cases have successfully avoided dismissal under Rule 10b-5’s 

scheme liability. Carley Cap. Group v. Deloitte & Touche, L.L.P., 27 F. Supp. 2d 

1324, 1334 (1998) (“. . . nothing in Central Bank with regard to its use of the 

[term] ‘makes’ . . . limits liability to those individuals who sign documents or 

are otherwise identified to investors. The standard adopted by the Court is 

consistent with the ‘directly or indirectly’ language in Section 10(b).”). 

Securities attorneys have also been susceptible to Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) 

because they have an obligation to avoid making factual misstatements about 

an issuer or its securities to perspective investors. Thompson v. Paul, 547 F. 3d 

1055, 1063 (9th Cir. 2008) (emphasizing that Section 10(b) imposes on “an 

attorney who undertakes to make representations to prospective purchasers of 

securities . . . an obligation . . . to tell the truth about those securities.”). 

Accordingly, it follows that Rule 10b-5 “does not preclude, outright, claims 

based upon a scheme to misrepresent or omit material facts.” SEC v. 

Goldstone, 952 F. Supp. 2d 1060, 1206 (D.N.M. 2013). The overlap in conduct 
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in Rule 10b-5 demonstrates how the subsections are primarily designed to 

capture all kinds of securities related to fraud, rather than qualified fraud, and 

is in-line with the statutory text. SEC v. W. J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 299 

(1946) (explaining that the Exchange Act was “designed to meet the countless 

and variable schemes devised by those who seek the use of the money of others 

on the promise of profits.”). A finding that Rule 10b-5’s subsections are 

mutually exclusive would leave victims of common securities fraud schemes 

and practices rooted in misrepresentation without recourse and would ignore 

Congress’s intention of crafting a broad statute that is adaptable to the 

evolution of unlawful conduct in the securities realm.   

B. Primary Liability For Deceptive Conduct Involving Misstatements 
Attaches To Whomever Is Attributable To Those Statements. 

 
The Lorenzo Court’s determination that dissemination by an executive of 

false statements constitutes a primary violation under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) is 

correct because it applied an adapted version of the bright-line test when 

deciding the misstatements were directly attributable to the defendant. This 

Court has built upon the vague aiding and abetting standard that Central Bank 

used to determine primary liability, which led to the development of the bright-

line test. Nicholas Fortune Schanbaum, Scheme Liability: Rule 10b-5(a) and 

Secondary Actor Liability After Central Bank, 26 REV. LETIG. 183, 203 (2007). 

The strictest and least controversial of proposed primary liability tests, the 

bright-line test, concludes that a third-party’s review and approval of 

documents containing fraudulent statements is not actionable under Rule 10b-

5 unless the allegedly misleading statement is attributable at the time of its 



 P13 

 24 

issuance to the alleged violator.2 See Stoneridge, 552 U.S. 148 (agreeing with 

the district court that in order to find a primary violation of the federal 

securities law, as opposed to non-actionable aiding and abetting, the 

misrepresentation or offending conduct must be directly attributable to the 

defendant); Schanbaum, supra, at 203.  

The fact that Lorenzo is an SEC case is a non-issue because this Court 

uses an adaptation of the stricter bright-line test found in private suits. The 

Lorenzo Court involved an executive at an investment bank who sent a 

personal email containing false valuation at the request of his boss with the 

intent of inducing the recipient investors to buy into the client’s company. 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103. In the signature block of the email, the executive 

signed his name, represented himself as the vice president of investment 

banking, and encouraged the recipients to contact him with any questions. Id. 

The Lorenzo Court concluded that because the emails were personally 

attributable to him, and consequently the investors could rely on his conduct, 

primary liability was establish by his “dissemination” of false statements to 

investors in a Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) action. Id. at 1104.  

On the other hand, this Court has determined that an individual who 

participates in securities fraud involving misstatements is not primarily liable 

under Rule 10b-5 when that individual is not attributable in those 

misstatements. See Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 153; Janus, 131 S. Ct. at 2305. In 

 
2 One line of cases after Central Bank adopted the substantial participation test, which states 
that third parties may be liable for statements made by others in which the defendant had 
significant participation or intricate involvement. Gary M. Bishop, A Framework for Analyzing 
Attorney Liability Under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, 10 U.N.H. L. REV. 193, 201 (2012). The 
other adopted the stricter bright-line test. Id.  
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Stoneridge Investment Partners, L.L.C. v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., investment 

bankers asserted that the defendants had engaged in a scheme to misrepresent 

the revenue of the company in which they invested. 552 U.S. at 153. The 

defendants were customers who had agreed to certain arrangements that 

permitted the company to mislead its auditor and issue a misleading financial 

statement that affected the entity’s stock price and ultimately injured the 

plaintiffs. Id. at 152. This Court determined that defendants as customers were 

so distantly separated from the fraudulent conduct that the investors could not 

have possibly known about their involvement, much less relied on their 

actions. Id. In this case, this Court could not find that these statements were 

attributable to the customers without straining to find a connection, thus 

making them third-party aiders and abettors. Id.  

 In Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, the Janus Capital 

Group (“JCG”) retained the defendants, a legally separate subsidiary of JCG, as 

their investment advisor. Janus, 131 S. Ct. at 2305. The company’s 

stockholders filed a Rule 10b-5 action against the investment advisor who 

drafted false statements in JCG’s prospectus. Id. at 2301. The Supreme Court 

dismissed the case with respect to the investment advisor because the 

complaint failed to allege that any of the statements set forth in the prospectus 

were directly attributable to the investment advisor. See id. at 2301; 

Schanbaum, supra, at 216 (“[I]f a statement is attributed to a party, either 

directly or by implication based on the circumstances, the attribution is a 

strong indicator that the party to whom the statement was attributed” is 

primarily liable).  
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While these three cases have different outcomes and apply different 

subsections, they all apply the bright-line test when determining primary 

liability for fraudulent conduct regarding false statements. See Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1104; Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 153; Janus, 131 S. Ct. at 2305. 

Accordingly, there is nothing in Lorenzo that muddles the “clean distinction” 

between primary and secondary liability that has persisted since Central Bank 

and has been modified by the subsequent cases. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1104; see generally Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. 164. That Lorenzo was an SEC 

enforcement action gives little reason to determine that the holding is 

unsuitable for private actions since the Court applies the same bright-line test 

seen in private Rule 10b-5 actions. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104. In turn, 

the analysis of primary liability in Lorenzo is readily transferrable to the case at 

bar and remains effective at preventing frivolous claims. See id.  

 Moreover, applying Lorenzo here would not subject peripheral players in 

fraud to primary liability because the added procedural burdens of the PSLRA 

prevents such frivolous claims. 15 U.S.C. §78u-4. While the number of private 

securities law actions have risen in the past few years, this comes as a result of 

objections to mergers rather than ineffectiveness of the PSLRA. Jonathan 

Stempel, A lawsuit a Day: U.S. Securities Class Actions Soar, REUTERS (Jan. 29, 

2018), https://www.reuters.com/article/us-stocks-classaction/a-lawsuit-a-

day-u-s-securities-class-actions-soar-idUSKBN1FI2FM. Correspondingly, there 

has been a rise in dismissals. Id. Applying the broad, plain meaning of the 

statutes when deciding whether to grant a motion to dismiss in this case would 

not change any of those requirements under the PSLRA. This Court must insist 



 P13 

 27 

that Lorenzo apply to the case at hand because Lorenzo maintains the bright-

line test in determining primary liability when a violator’s conduct involves 

false statements.  

C. The Facts Are Sufficient To Support An Inference That Respondent 
Is Primarily Liable Under Rule 10b-5(a) Or (c).  

 
The case at bar contains similar characteristics as in Lorenzo where the 

Court put great weight on the fact that the false statements inserted into 

investor documents were directly attributable to the executive defendant as a 

disseminator. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101. Respondent became a disseminator 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) by preparing false regulatory assurances and 

passing them along to her co-executives for their public delivery at the Annual 

Meeting. R at 32. Even more conclusive, Respondent again disseminated the 

misstatements by inserting them as legal disclosures into the investor 

materials that were posted directly to the company’s public-facing website. R at 

32. Further, not only is Respondent a licensed attorney, a prominent role in 

and of itself, but she was the Company’s General Counsel⎯effectively making 

her the last line of defense against internal wrongdoing. R. at 2, 6–7. 

Accordingly, this Court should find that Respondent is more similar to Lorenzo 

than to the peripheral actor. Even if Respondent is not considered a 

disseminator, her position as General Counsel and failure to use due care in 

curtailing the company from internal wrong-doing on its own constitutes a 

deceptive or manipulative practice that falls under subsection (c). See 17 C.F.R. 

§ 240.10b-5(c). 
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Petitioner is simply seeking a determination that they have pled sufficient 

facts to surpass a motion to dismiss. Because this Court is required to make 

reasonable inferences on the facts presented in the light most favorable to the 

Petitioner, this Court should conclude that Respondent’s role in the investor 

fraud is sufficient to find her liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully ask this Court to 

reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit.  

Respectfully Submitted, 

_____________________/s/ 

Team P13 

Counsel for Petitioners 

 


